NO. SC04-157

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

) Appeal from the Fifth
) District Court of Appeal
) No. 5D02-2807
)
) There Heard on Appeal
) from the Circuit Court
) of the Ninth Judicial
) Circuit, Orange County
)
) The Honorable R. James
) Stroker, Judge Presiding

PETITIONER-S INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Hinshaw & Culbertson LLP Southtrust Bank Building One East Broward Blvd. Suite 1010 Ft. Lauderdale, FL 33301 Phone: (954) 467-7900 Facsimile: (954) 467-1024

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

A. Nature of the Case and Proceedings Below

This is a wrongful death action arising out of a high-speed car chase. Plaintiffs, who are the personal representatives of the decedent and his two minor children, alleged that defendant Willie Gene Beauford (ABeauford@) used an auto owned by defendant Sun State Ford to Achase[] and threaten[]@ decedent at high speed, causing decedent to take evasive action out of Afear of his health and safety@ and resulting in the crash that killed him. (R. 69)

Count II of the first amended complaint alleged that Sun State Ford was liable to plaintiffs under the Adangerous instrumentality@doctrine because it was the owner of the vehicle Beauford used to chase and threaten decedent. (R.70-2) The trial court entered a summary final judgment in favor of Sun State Ford on the basis that Beauford Awas engaged in an intentional tort at the time of the alleged incident@and Sun State Ford could not be held vicariously liable for an intentional tort. (R. 546-7)

The Fifth District Court of Appeal reversed. It held that **A**reckless driving or other intentional misconduct by an operator does not terminate liability under the [dangerous instrumentality] doctrine.@(App. 1, p. 7) Instead, the District Court ruled that imputed liability under the doctrine ends only **A**when a vehicle is used in a weapon-like manner with the intent to inflict physical injury,@ and that a question of fact existed in this case

because Beauford=s intent Awas unclear.@(App. 1, pp. 7, 9-10)

B. The Occurrence

In June of 1999, Carla Lewis (a non-party) rented a Ford F-150 pick-up truck from Sun State Ford in Orlando. (R. 213) Lewis loaned the car to defendant Beauford, her brother. (R. 265)

During the early morning hours of June 28, 1999, Beauford used the truck to drive his girlfriend, Teresa Wilson (AWilson@), and her cousin, Bridgett Lee (ALee@), to the Caribbean Club in Orange County. (R. 249-50) While the two women were at the Caribbean Club, Beauford played cards at the home of his friend, Jerome Manning (AManning@), in nearby Eatonville. (R. 249-52) At 3:00 a.m., Wilson called Beauford on his cellular phone and asked him to come get her and Lee at the club. (R. 251-2)

Beauford and Manning drove to the Caribbean Club together in the truck, retrieved Wilson and Lee, and returned to Manning=s house. (R. 252-3) Wilson and Lee then walked to another club called Hero=s, which was about a block away from where Manning lived. (R. 253) Beauford remained at Manning=s house where he sat on the front porch, played cards, and could watch the Hero=s parking lot. (R. 253, 255, 268)

Over the next several hours, Beauford grew increasingly angry with Wilson and Lee, whom he had instructed to **A**just go in and come back out@of the club. (R. 254, 264-5, 266) Beauford was apparently the subject of an outstanding arrest warrant, was well-known to the Eatonville police, and felt that he was at greater risk of being apprehended if

he remained in the area during the early morning hours, when less people were around and the police would **A**pull you over for anything they can.@(R. 251, 253, 264, 265, 268)

At 5:00 a.m., as Hero-s was closing, Beauford stopped playing cards and, while standing on Manning-s front porch, began looking for Wilson and Lee to emerge from the club. (R. 268) He saw them come out, but instead of returning to Manning-s house, they got into a car with a man whom Beauford did not recognize. (R. 268-9, 275) The man with whom Beauford saw Wilson and Lee was the decedent, Aaryon Miles (**A**Miles@).

Miles drove his car out of the Heros parking lot and, with Wilson and Lee as his passengers, sped right past Beauford, who was now standing in Manning front yard. (R. 269, 273) This further angered Beauford, who felt that the women saw him as they sped by and that their conduct was intended to challenge his relationship with Wilson. (R. 275-6)

Beauford climbed into the rented truck and began to follow Miles= car, a black convertible, running several stop signs in order to keep up with it. (R. 270) Beauford said that he followed Miles out of concern for the women=s safety, because when Miles sped past him it appeared that Wilson and Miles were pointing at one another and arguing. (R. 269-70, 274) He was also concerned that they might be drinking or taking drugs. (R. 274) Miles soon came to a stoplight, which allowed Beauford to creep up behind him and confirm that Wilson and Lee were in the car. (R. 270) Miles then turned the corner, and Beauford resumed following him. (R. 277) When Miles reached another intersection, he came to a complete stop. (R. 278) Beauford stopped, too, got out of his truck, and approached Miles=vehicle from the rear. (R. 278) However, before Beauford could reach the car, Miles quickly pulled away. (R. 278) Beauford saw Wilson fall backward into her seat when this occurred, as if she had been sitting up and watching Beauford as he approached. (R. 278) Beauford=s perception was that the women told Miles to stop so that Beauford would be duped into getting out of his car, allowing them to get **A**a good head start on him@ and **A**lose him.@(R. 279) Now Beauford was **A**really mad.@(R. 280) In his words, **A**[t]hat=s what started the sure enough chase then.@(R. 278)

As Miles sped away, he shut off the lights on his car and, with Beauford in hot pursuit, both vehicles began running red lights and making frequent turns, eventually reaching speeds of between 80 and 100 miles per hour. (R. 280-4) Each time Miles applied his brakes, however, Beauford was able to spot the car and continue the chase, Agetting closer and closer to them.@(R. 282) Miles ultimately lost control of his vehicle, crashed into a tree, and was killed. (R. 285) Wilson and Lee were seriously injured. (R. 285-7) Beauford admitted that if he Ahadn=t been following them at that particular time, they probably wouldn=t have been riding that fast, if [he] wasn=t following them.@(R. 289)

Lee apparently told the police at the hospital that Miles swerved and lost control of the car because Beauford pointed a gun at them from the truck. (R. 286, 296) Beauford denied that he had a weapon, but was arrested and charged with one count of second degree murder and two counts of attempted second degree murder. (R. 230, 283-4) Ultimately, he was convicted of willful and wanton reckless driving and possession of a firearm by a convicted felon. (R. 230)

C. Plaintiffs=First Amended Complaint and Answers to Interrogatories

In their first amended complaint, plaintiffs alleged that they noticed they Awere

being followed@by Beauford as they were traveling north on Rose Avenue in Orlando.

(R. 68) Plaintiffs then alleged as follows:

[Beauford] began following the vehicle driven by the Plaintiff more closely than reasonable and prudent for the then existing conditions. Further, in addition to following the Plaintiff too closely, [Beauford] carelessly and reckless (sic) pursued the Plaintiff=s (sic), causing Plaintiff to be in fear of his health and safety. As Plaintiff attempted to take evasive action by traveling at a higher rate of speed, [Beauford] also continued to follow too closely, and in such a manner as to make Plaintiff think he was being chased and threatened.

(R. 69)

Similarly, in their answers to interrogatories, plaintiffs provided the following

description of the occurrence:

[Beauford] followed the vehicle driven by the decedent, Aaryon Miles, more closely than reasonable and prudent for the existing conditions. [Beauford] carelessly and reckless (sic) pursued the car driven by the decedent causing him to be in fear of his health and safety and causing decedent to loose (sic) control of his (sic) which resulted in Aaryon Miles being killed.

(R. 313, 318)

Sun State Ford-s amended answer to the first amended complaint raised the

following affirmative defense:

7. Plaintiff=s damages, if any, were caused by Defendant, Beauford=s, intentional acts for which Sun State is not liable.(R. 190)

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Under *Kitchen v. K Mart Corporation*, 697 So. 2d 1200 (Fla. 1997), a retailer who sells a firearm to an obviously intoxicated person who then uses the gun to kill his spouse is liable only if proven negligent. Conversely, under the progeny of Southern Cotton Oil Co. v. Anderson, 86 So. 629 (Fla. 1920), an auto owner who lends his car to a neighbor to pick up his children from school is strictly liable for any accident that ensues.

There is little logic in requiring proof of fault before holding a firearms dealer liable under Kitchen while imposing strict liability on an auto owner under the dangerous instrumentality doctrine. As a matter of public policy, this Court should dispense with the dangerous instrumentality doctrine and adopt a single, uniform standard of fault-based liability for dangerous chattels under ' 390 of the Restatement (Second) of Torts, like the vast majority of jurisdictions have done.

The primary justification for the dangerous instrumentality doctrine has been **A**to provide greater financial responsibility to pay for the carnage on our roads.*@Kraemer v. General Motors Acceptance Corp.*, 572 So. 2d 1363, 1365 (Fla. 1990). This justification would not be diminished by adopting ' 390 instead. Rather, the adoption of ' 390 in lieu of the dangerous instrumentality doctrine would expand the class of persons to whom

financial responsibility would extend. Beneficial ownership would no longer have to be the yardstick. Cf. Aurbach v. Gallina, 753 So. 2d 60 (Fla. 2000). Instead, owners and non-owners alike would be subject to liability based on the more flexible test of foreseeability of harm.

Replacing the dangerous instrumentality doctrine with section 390 would also do more to advance the goal of tort law. Tort law, in Florida as elsewhere, traditionally allocates liability based on fault. Hoffman v. Jones, 280 So. 2d 431, 438 (Fla. 1973)(**A**In the field of tort law, the most equitable result that can ever be reached by a court is the equation of liability with fault.@). Tying liability to fault furthers the goal of tort law to deter injurious conduct.

Under '390, liability depends upon the amount of care exercised by auto owners. This creates a greater incentive for them to exercise due care because when the exercise of due care is the standard for liability, rational car owners (like gun dealers) will logically seek to exercise such care. The dangerous instrumentality doctrine does less to advance the goal of deterrence because when liability exists irrespective of fault, a person may disregard the standard of care.

The abolishment of the dangerous instrumentality doctrine and the adoption of '390 in its place will also reduce litigation.

Objective foreseeability (the test under '390) is a question that trial courts may decide as a matter of law. A trial court=s ability to make an early determination of duty

will lead to the prompt settlement of meritorious cases and the swift disposition of frivolous claims. Appellate review of such determinations is de novo. De novo review of such rulings will provide lower courts and litigants with greater predictability of outcome.

Conversely, under the decision below, clear-cut cases of intentional misconduct (like this one) will always require a trial over the subjective intent of the driver, no matter how unforeseeable and spontaneous the occurrence may have been. Moreover, appellate review of such credibility contests is highly deferential. This tends to make the outcome of factually similar cases highly unpredictable, which engenders more litigation.

The utility of the dangerous instrumentality doctrine should be re-examined in the light of these considerations of public policy. But even if the doctrine is retained, this Court should announce a bright-line rule that requires auto owners to protect against intentional torts by permitted users only if the tort is reasonably anticipated and the owner had actual or constructive knowledge of the danger.

Southern Cotton Oil fully supports such a rule, because its rationale for characterizing autos as Adangerous instrumentalities@was the foreseeability of accidents arising from their ordinary use. The imposition of a duty on auto owners for a driver=s intentional tort based on reasonable foreseeability is consistent with the doctrine=s historical roots and would harmonize the doctrine with *Kitchen*.

Alternatively, the Court should quash the decision below and hold that Beauford=s misconduct in this case was an intentional assault as a matter of law for which Sun State

Ford cannot be held vicariously liable. The District Court overlooked that Beauford=s intent was irrelevant to whether an assault was committed. It was the victim=s apprehension of a battery that mattered, and that apprehension is exactly what plaintiffs= first amended complaint and answers to interrogatories affirmatively described.

Moreover, even if Beaufords subjective intent mattered (which is denied), the District Court misapprehended the record. Beaufords initial decision to follow the decedents auto may have been motivated by concern over his girlfriends safety. However, as Beauford himself explained, it was only after he became enraged over a trick played upon him at an intersection that the chase began in earnest. His pursuit of the decedent from that point forward had nothing to do with concern for his girlfriends safety. Instead, Beaufords conduct was substantially certain to cause the decedent to fear for his safety, and that constituted an assault as a matter of law.

ARGUMENT

THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY ENTERED SUMMARY JUDGMENT IN FAVOR OF SUN STATE FORD BECAUSE BEAUFORD COMMITTED AN UNFORESEEABLE AND INTENTIONAL TORT

A. Standard of Review

A grant of summary judgment is reviewed *de novo*. Dr. Phillips, Inc. v. L & W Supply Corp., 790 So. 2d 539, 542 (Fla. 2001).

B. The Touchstone of the Dangerous Instrumentality Doctrine is Foreseeability of Harm

The dangerous instrumentality doctrine was adopted in 1920 in *Southern Cotton Oil Co. v. Anderson*, 86 So. 629 (Fla. 1920). *Southern Cotton Oil* was a case of simple negligence in which an employer allowed one of his employees to use a company-owned vehicle to get lunch. The plaintiff, who was apparently operating a motorcycle, was struck by the defendant=s employee as he returned to work. *See Anderson v. Southern Cotton Oil Co.*, 74 So. 975 (Fla. 1917).

The primary issue that Southern Cotton Oil confronted was whether to extend a doctrine historically limited to inherently dangerous agencies (explosives, firearms, poisons) to the automobile, which the court openly acknowledged was not dangerous *per se*. The court=s resolution of this issue was grounded entirely on the objective foreseeability of harm arising from the ordinary use of an auto.

Quoting Pollock on Torts, the court=s analysis began with the proposition that any man who entrusts an item of **A**extraordinary risk@to another **A**is held to insure his neighbor against any consequent harm *not due to some cause beyond human foresight*.@86 So. at 631 (emphasis added). With this premise in mind, the court examined whether accidents arising from the ordinary use of automobiles were reasonably foreseeable.

The *ordinary* use of the automobile was a key aspect of the court-s decisionmaking process. Quoting at length from Thompson on Negligence, the court agreed that it was appropriate to consider first whether an automobile was likely to inflict serious injury **A**when operated in the *customary* method of use and while being devoted to the purposes *for which it was designed*.[@] 86 So. at 634 (emphasis added). Then, citing recent statistics on the high incidence of accidents involving automobiles, the court concluded that the automobile was indeed a **A**dangerous instrumentality[@] because, unlike an object such as a hammer, its ordinary and customary use made harm to persons using the public highways reasonably foreseeable. 86 So. at 636.

Having classified the automobile as a dangerous instrumentality, *Southern Cotton Oil* proceeded to announce the following rule of law:

> [O]ne who authorizes and permits an instrumentality that is peculiarly dangerous in its operation to be used by another on the public highway is liable in damages for injuries to third persons caused by the negligent operation of such instrumentality on the highway by one so authorized by the owner.

86 So. at 638.

Contrary to the decision below (*see* App. 1, p. 6-7), this Court=s decision to limit an auto owner=s vicarious liability to accidents arising from the Anegligent@ operation of a motor vehicle appears to have been quite deliberate. *Southern Cotton Oil* drew heavily on precedents involving the law of master-servant, and the authorities the court relied upon specifically discussed the doctrine=s application to instances where the servant acted Awillfully, wantonly, and in disobedience of the master=s order.@86 So. at 634, quoting 1 Thompson, Com. on Neg. '589. Accordingly, *Southern Cotton Oil* could have established a broader rule of vicarious liability if that is what the court had intended, but

the court chose the word Anegligence@instead. The choice was consistent with the courts rationale for extending the doctrine to automobiles, viz., operator negligence during the ordinary and customary use of an automobile was reasonably foreseeable.

In the decades that ensued, the dangerous instrumentality doctrine was re-affirmed in many different contexts. *Crenshaw Bros. Produce Co. v. Harper*, 194 So. 353 (Fla. 1940) extended its application to accidents involving fellow servants. Seven years later, in Lynch v. Walker, 31 So. 2d 268 (Fla. 1947), the doctrine was applied to a bailment for hire. In the 1950s the doctrine was made applicable to gratuitous bailments. *May v. Palm Beach Chemical Co.*, 77 So. 2d 468 (Fla. 1955). And during the last three decades of the twentieth century it was extended to long-term lessors of automobiles and to the owners of golf carts and airplanes. Orefice v. Albert, 237 So. 2d 142 (Fla. 1970)(airplane); Meister v. Fisher, 462 So. 2d 1071 (Fla. 1985)(golf cart); *Kraemer v. General Motors Acceptance Corp.*, 572 So. 2d 1363 (Fla. 1990)(lessor).

Significantly, all of these cases involved accidents that occurred during the customary, ordinary, and expected use of the vehicles. One of the only cases to suggest a basis upon which an auto owner might escape liability under the doctrine was *Susco Car Rental System of South Florida v. Leonard*, 112 So. 2d 832 (Fla. 1959). There, the court **A**unequivocally endorsed@the view of the Third District that the doctrine would not apply to a car that was stolen or that **A**was not being used for the purpose for which it was rented, i.e. the pleasure, convenience or business of the renter.@112 So. 2d at 835.

This statement from *Susco Car Rental* represented a logical corollary of the foreseeability analysis *Southern Cotton Oil* employed forty years earlier. By holding that the doctrine was inapplicable to the theft of an auto, or possibly to its use for something other than the **A**ordinary purposes for which an automobile is rented, *Susco Car Rental* re-affirmed that injuries **A**due to some cause beyond human foresight, *Gor from the use of a vehicle in a manner other than* **A**for which it was designed *(See Southern Cotton Oil, 86 So. at 631, 634)*, were not within the intended scope of the doctrine because reasonable foreseeability of harm would be lacking.

C. The District Courts= Efforts to Ameliorate the Harsh Effects of the Dangerous Instrumentality Doctrine in Cases Involving Intentional Torts have Failed because they Improperly Rely on the Subjective Intent of the Driver rather than the Objective Foreseeability of Harm

Aside from the decision below, only two Florida cases have addressed whether an auto owner is liable under the dangerous instrumentality doctrine for the intentional tort of a permissive user.

The first case to address the intentional tort problem was *Caetano v. Bridges*, 502 So. 2d 51 (Fla. 1st DCA 1987). There, a father loaned his car to his daughter to use as transportation to and from work. Instead of driving to work, the daughter used the auto to search for her boyfriend. She ultimately found him at a tavern in the company of two other women, became enraged with jealousy, and tried to run over the boyfriend with the car as he departed the tavern hand-in-hand with the other women. She missed, striking

one of the two women instead. 502 So. 2d at 52.

The trial court entered summary judgment in favor of the plaintiff and against the father who owned the car used in the attack. The First District reversed. Citing Southern Cotton Oil, the district court emphasized that the dangerous instrumentality doctrine applied only when the driver=s misconduct was negligent, and that an owner **A** is not accountable if the operator is involved in intentional misconduct which is not foreseeable.[®] 502 So. 2d at 53. However, rather than address whether the defendant father knew or should have known that his daughter might use the auto to commit a battery, the district court remanded the action for trial solely on the issue of the daughter=s subjective intent.

Six years after *Caetano*, a slightly different case involving a driver-s intentional tort came before the First District. In *Sun Chevrolet, Inc. v. Crespo*, 613 So. 2d 105 (Fla. 1st DCA 1993), as here, the defendant-owner was a car rental agency whose permittee loaned the car to another. The driver killed someone in an accident and pled guilty to a charge of vehicular homicide.

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