IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

SUN STATE FORD, INC.,

Petitioner,

vs.

CASE NO.: SC04-157
Lower Tribunal No.: 5D02-2807

LAVERICA BURCH, as Parent and Natural
Guardian of NY`JAE AALIYAH MILES,
and REGINA PACE, as Parent and Natural
Guardian of AKEIA D. MILES, jointly as
Co-Personal Representatives for the Estate of
AARYON MILES, and WILLIE GENE
BEAUFORD, JR., individually,

Respondents.

RESPONDENTS' BRIEF ON THE MERITS

DARYL D. PARKS, ESQUIRE
FBN: 0054097
Parks & Crump, LLC
Attorney for Respondents/Plaintiffs
240 North Magnolia Drive
Tallahassee, FL 32301
(850) 224-6400
(850) 224-6679(Facsimile)

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The dangerous instrumentality doctrine has been utilized by Florida courts as a method of holding an owner liable for the negligent actions of a permissive user. However, as noted by the Fifth District Court of Appeal (“DCA”), an owner is also liable if that user is reckless or involved in certain aspects of intentional misconduct. App. 1. The focus by the appellant upon Florida’s need to dispense with the dangerous instrumentality doctrine is not ripe for this appeal. Neither the lower court nor the Fifth DCA heard argument on the issue of the dangerous instrumentality doctrine being an improper basis of owner liability. The only true issue is whether or not the actions of Beauford constituted intentional conduct thereby taking it outside of the scope of the dangerous instrumentality doctrine. It is our position that it does not.

Furthermore, the reliance by Florida courts upon the dangerous instrumentality doctrine is proper. Florida courts have properly maintained their adherence to the dangerous instrumentality doctrine due to their desire to protect the public from the offensive actions of owners of vehicles who permit them to be used by others. In the instant case, Sun State Ford, Inc., as an owner of a dangerous instrumentality should be liable for any actions of a permissive user as permitted under the dangerous instrumentality doctrine. It was foreseeable that an individual would use the vehicle to follow someone they believe is in danger. As a result, Beauford’s actions do not fall within the realm of intentional misconduct that is not foreseeable which would suffice

to bar imposition of liability on Sun State Ford, Inc.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The standard of review of a summary judgment order is de novo and requires viewing of the evidence in the light most favorable to the non-moving party. Florida Bar v. Cosnow, 797 So. 2d 1255 (Fla. 2001); See also Krol v. Orlando, 778 So. 2d 490, 491 (Fla. 5th DCA 2001).

ARGUMENT

I. **THE DANGEROUS INSTRUMENTALITY DOCTRINE SHOULD NOT BE DISPENSED WITH FOR FAULT-BASED LIABILITY UNDER §390 OF THE RESTATEMENT (SECOND) OF TORTS.**

The rules of this court require that “in order to be preserved for further review by a higher court, an issue must be presented to the lower court and the specific legal argument or ground to be argued on appeal or review must be part of that presentation if it is to be considered preserved.” *See Keech v. Yousef*, 815 So. 2d 718 (Fla. 5th DCA 2002). Florida courts have traditionally held that questions not timely raised and ruled upon in the trial court will not be considered on appeal. *Id.* at 720. In *Keech*, a vehicle owner had hired a mechanic to increase horsepower of his cars. *Id.* The vehicle owner claimed that the mechanic had not done the work as promised and sued him on claims of breach of contract, breach of implied warranty, and deceptive and unfair trade practices. *Id.* The vehicle owner presented competent evidence relating to the claims with the exception of the claim relating to the Florida Deceptive and Unfair Trade Practices Act (DUPTA). *Id.* The vehicle owner proved only one act that fell under DUPTA rather than showing that the mechanic engaged in a pattern of prohibited practices, as required, and the mechanic appealed. *Id.* However, the court entered judgment in favor of the vehicle owner. *Id.* The Fifth DCA in articulating its holding stated that, “because the DUPTA issue was not presented to the trial court, the issue was waived for appellate review. *Id.* In the instant case, the Petitioners

lengthy exposition as to why this court should dispense with Florida's dangerous instrumentality doctrine for fault-based liability under §390, is an issue that was not raised in the trial court or before the Fifth DCA, therefore failure to preserve such a legal argument for appellate review constitutes a waiver.

Alternatively, if this Court elects to review Petitioner's argument to adopt §390 of the Restatement (Second) of Torts as the legal standard for determining liability of one who provides an automobile to another under the circumstances presented here in lieu of Florida's dangerous instrumentality doctrine, then Respondents' argument is stated hereafter. This Court should not replace the dangerous instrumentality doctrine with a fault-based theory of liability for dangerous chattels under §390 of the Restatement (Second) of Torts. Replacing the dangerous instrumentality doctrine with §390 would in essence be lowering the standard of liability for owners of automobiles as a means of insulating an owner from liability to injured plaintiffs, defeating the primary objective of which the doctrine is designed to protect against.

Florida courts have recognized that an automobile, although not dangerous per se, is dangerous in its operation, and the principles of the common law do not permit the owner of an instrumentality that is not dangerous per se, but is peculiarly dangerous in its operation, to authorize another to use such instrumentality on the public highways without imposing such owner liability for negligent use. *See Southern Cotton Oil Co. v. Anderson*, 86 So. 629 (Fla. 1920). Adopted in 1920, Florida's dangerous instrumentality doctrine imposes strict vicarious liability upon the owner of

a motor vehicle who voluntarily entrusts that motor vehicle to an individual whose negligent operation causes damage to another. *See Southern Cotton Oil Co. v. Anderson*, 86 So. 629, 637 (1920). In *Southern Cotton Oil Co.* this court stated, “one who authorizes and permits an instrumentality that is peculiarly dangerous in its operation to be used by another on the public highway is liable in damages for injuries to third persons caused by the negligent operation of such instrumentality on the highway by one authorized by the owner.” *Id.* at 632. This doctrine has been extended to lessors. *See Susco Car Rental Sys. v. Leonard*, 112 So. 2d 832 (Fla. 1959). The court further noted that, “a lessor’s liability results from the owner’s obligation to have the vehicle properly operated when it is by authority on the public highway.” *Id.* at 836. The doctrine seeks to provide greater financial responsibility to pay for the carnage on the roads. It is premised on the theory that one who originates the danger by entrusting the automobile to another is in the best position to make certain that there will be adequate resources with which to pay the damages caused by its negligent operation. *Id.* Under the dangerous instrumentality doctrine, an owner who gives authority to another to operate the owner’s vehicle, by express or implied consent, has a nondelegable obligation to ensure the vehicle is operated safely. *Id.* In the instant case, Sun State Ford is liable to plaintiffs under the dangerous instrumentality doctrine because it was the owner of the vehicle driven by Beauford, which it had rented to Beauford’s sister. This rule arises from the absolute duty which is owing to the public by those who employ in their business dangerous agencies or

appliances, engines, or instruments liable, if negligently managed, to result in great damage to others. *Id.* at 632. When Sun State Ford rented the vehicle, they were solely responsible for the actions of the permissive user, Defendant Beauford.

In determining who is vicariously liable under the dangerous instrumentality doctrine, the court repeatedly has required that the person to be held vicariously liable have an identifiable property interest in the vehicle, such as ownership, bailment, rental, or lease of a vehicle. *Aurbach v. Gallina*, 753 So. 2d 60 (Fla. 2000). In *Aurbach*, Michael Aurbach was injured in an automobile accident by a motor vehicle operated by Angelina Gallina, age eighteen. *Id.* Aurbach and his wife sued Gallina as the operator of the vehicle and her parents, Louis and Carolina. Although the vehicle was titled in the name of Carolina Gallina, the Aurbachs also sought to hold Louis Gallina vicariously liable under the dangerous instrumentality doctrine, alleging that he owned or had a right to control the motor vehicle driven by his daughter. *Id.* Louis Gallina claimed that he was not the owner of the vehicle, as required by the dangerous instrumentality doctrine, thus he could not be held liable for the resultant accident. *Id.* The court held that Louis Gallina was not the owner, bailee, or lessee and did not have control of the automobile sufficient to impose liability under the dangerous instrumentality doctrine. *Id.* See also *Vic Potamkin Chevrolet Inc. v. Horne*, 505 So. 2d 560 (Fla. 3d DCA 1987) (where the court refused to hold the defendant, who had sold the car and no longer had any control over it, liable for the plaintiff's injuries). Contrary to *Aurbach*, in the instant case, Sun State Ford was the owner and

maintained a general right to control the operation or use of the vehicle they had rented out to Carla Lewis to operate.

Under Florida's dangerous instrumentality doctrine, the owner of a vehicle is liable to third persons for its negligent operation by anyone to whom it has been entrusted, even if the bailee grossly violates the owner's express instructions concerning its use. *Avis Rent-A-Car Sys. V. Garmas*, 440 So. 2d 1311 (Fla. 3d DCA 1983, citing *Southern Cotton Oil Co. v. Anderson*, 86 So. 629 (1920)). In *Avis Rent-A-Car Sys.*, Avis Rent-A-Car was a defendant in a personal injury action arising from an accident admittedly caused by the grossly negligent operation of one of its rental vehicles. *Id.* Avis contended that the negligence caused by the driver who the vehicle was not rented to insulated the company from liability. *Id.* The court in determining that a rental-vehicle-lessee's departure from an express agreement that he could not permit anyone else to operate it, did not affect the rent-a-car company's liability. *Id.* Moreover, this Court has held that an owner cannot deliver a vehicle into the hands of another without assuming, or continuing, his full responsibility to the public. *See Id.* (Citing the Supreme Court in *Susco v. Leonard*, 112 So.2d 832, 837 (1959)). The court further noted, that such statutory provisions would, of course, be quite nugatory if ultimate liability could be escaped by contract of the owner. *See Susco Car Rental Sys. of Fla. v. Leonard*, 112 So. 2d 832 (Fla. 1959). In the instant case, the vehicle driven by Defendant Beauford was rented to Carla Lewis, a non-party and Beauford's sister, from Sun State Ford, therefore making Sun State Ford liable for the damages

sustained by the plaintiffs.

Moreover, the owner is free of liability only in cases of intentional misconduct which is not foreseeable. *See Caetano v. Bridges*, 502 So. 2d 51, 53 (Fla. 1st DCA 1987) (citing *Southern Cotton Oil Co. v. Anderson*, 86 So. 2d 629 (Fla. 1920)). In the instant case, it is foreseeable that an individual would attempt to rescue those he believes may be in imminent harm. Out of concern for the women's safety, Defendant Beauford merely attempted to rescue the women that appeared to be arguing with the decedent Aaryon Miles. Conversely, in *Caetano*, the defendant expressed an intent to run down her boyfriend who was hand in hand with the plaintiff in that case. *Id.* Under the transferred intent doctrine, her intent to injure her boyfriend would then apply to the plaintiff in that case. As the intent to injure her boyfriend would transfer to the injury actually inflicted upon the plaintiff in *Caetano*, the court would have reasonably concluded that the owner was not liable. *Id.* However, in the instant case since Beauford lacked the intent to inflict bodily injury upon any of the occupants of the vehicle driven by Miles, the dangerous instrumentality doctrine should not be construed to absolve the owner of vicarious liability in this case.

Furthermore, in establishing the dangerous instrumentality doctrine, this court clearly evidenced an intent to hold owners of vehicles liable even if the vehicle is used in a manner that is outside the scope of the owner's express consent. In *Southern Cotton Oil Co. v. Anderson*, 86 So. 629, 630 (Fla. 1920), this court stated that the responsibility of an owner of an automobile extends to its use by one with his

knowledge or consent. An automobile operated upon the public highways being a dangerous machine, its owner is responsible for the manner in which it is used, and his liability extends to its use by anyone with his knowledge or consent. *Id.* In the instant case, Sun State Ford's lessee, Beauford's sister gave him the express consent to use the vehicle.

Sun State Ford by maintaining ownership, control and possession of a dangerous instrumentality and notably loaning an auto to a third party should be held liable for any accident that results. The dangerous instrumentality doctrine imposes strict vicarious liability upon the owner of a motor vehicle who voluntarily entrusts that motor vehicle to an individual whose negligent operation causes damage to another. Additionally, the liability under the doctrine of respondeat superior is not foreign to the rule of liability that one who authorizes and permits an instrumentality that is peculiarly dangerous in its operation to be used by another on the public highway, is liable in damages to third persons that are caused by the negligent operation of such instrumentality on the highway by one who is so authorized by the owner. *See Southern Cotton Oil Co.* at 629.

The respondents ask this court to follow the lead of our district courts and hold that Beauford was not engaged in an intentional tort as a matter of law for which Sun State Ford should be held vicariously liable. If Florida's traffic problems were sufficient to prompt its adoption in 1920, there is all the more reason for its application to today's high-speed travel upon crowded highways. *Aurbach v. Gallina*, 753 So.

2d 60 (Fla. 2000). The courts then, as they do today recognize the grave harm that foreseeably results when an accident occurs.

II. SUN STATE FORD SHOULD BE HELD LIABLE UNDER THE DANGEROUS INSTRUMENTALITY DOCTRINE BECAUSE BEAUFORD'S ACTIONS WERE NEGLIGENT AND SUBJECTIVE INTENT SHOULD BE THE APPROPRIATE TEST TO IMPOSE LIABILITY.

The dangerous instrumentality doctrine was introduced as a method of addressing the large number of accidents occurring on Florida highways. In the past, it was a way to assess liability upon owners of motor vehicles under the valid assumption that motor vehicles are inherently dangerous. When originally proposed, it was this Court's intent to utilize the dangerous instrumentality doctrine as a method to hold owners liable when they permissively allow an individual to use their vehicle and an accident results. *See Southern Cotton Oil Co. v. Anderson*, 80 Fla. 441 (Fla. 1920). The court in *Southern Cotton Oil* made clear that a superior must respond in damages for the negligent acts of persons to whom he intrusts instrumentalities that are dangerous *per se* or dangerous in their use. *Id.* at 468, 469. In that case, which both parties agree is the progeny of cases to delineate the application of the dangerous instrumentality doctrine, the Court asserted that an owner is to be held liable for negligently entrusting his automobile to the use of others. *Id.* An automobile being a dangerous machine, its owner should be held responsible for the manner in which it is used; and his liability should extend to its use by anyone with his consent. *See*

Southern Oil Co. v. Anderson, 80 Fla. 441, 457 (Fla. 1920) quoting *Christy v. Elliott*, 216 Ill. 31, 47 N.E. Rep. 1035. He may not deliver it over to anyone he pleases and not be responsible for the consequences. *Id.* at 635. The court insisted upon holding an owner liable if he allowed the vehicle to be entrusted to someone who used the vehicle outside of the parameters of its intended use.

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